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 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1--- Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we'll get started.  This is the Technical Conference pursuant to Procedural Order No. 11 in the EB-2005-0211 proceeding.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  With me is Mr. Khalil Viraney.


Maybe I'll hand it over to Mr. Penny to give -- and perhaps we should go around the room first with introductions, for the benefit of the court reporter and the record.


APPEARANCES:

MR. PENNY:  Sure.  I'm Michael Penny.  I'm counsel for Union Gas.  I'll explain who's all with us.  I think people are known to you, by and large, but the witnesses today are the three people on my right.


I have Steve Baker, who is the vice-president, business development and commercial accounts for Union Gas; Pat Elliott, who is the director of accounting and internal controls of Union Gas; and Steve Poredos, director of capacity management for Union Gas.


With me also from Union Gas staff are Mike Packer on my left; Chris Ripley, who is the new Bryan Goulden; and Vanessa Innis.


MR. MILLAR:  Can we have the rest of the appearances, please?


MR. RYDER:  Alick Ryder, and I appear for the City of Kitchener.  And with me is Mr. Gruenbauer, who works for the City of Kitchener.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman, on behalf of VECC.


MR. DeROSE:  Vince DeRose, Industrial Gas Users Association.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning.  John DeVellis, for School Energy Coalition.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, Consumers' Council of Canada.


MS. BODNAR:  Barbara Bodnar, Enbridge Gas.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


I don't think there are any preliminary matters, and we've had some offline discussions about who is going to go first.  I think it's Mr. Ryder.


Mr. Penny, did you need to further introduce your witnesses, or are you ready to receive questions?


MR. PENNY:  I think we're ready to go.  The purpose, of course, of the Technical Conference is to clarify and understand the evidence, so let's get underway.


UNION GAS - PANEL 1:


Steve Poredos;


Steve Baker;


Patricia Elliott

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll pass it over to Mr. Ryder.


Just a quick reminder.  Before you speak, obviously, please make sure your mike is turned on, and to do that, for people who are not familiar with this room, you press the actual green button itself.  When the green button is lit, you are on, and when it's off, you are off.  I ask you to turn it off when you're not speaking, because the mikes are quite sensitive, and they tend to pick up conversations.  


And I also ask, before you ask your first question, if you could just identify yourself again so the court reporter can tell who's speaking.


And with that, I'll pass it to Mr. Ryder.


PRESENTATION BY MR. RYDER:


MR. RYDER:  Yes.  I'm Mr. Ryder, identifying myself.


Panel, the evidence speaks of account 152 in the uniform system of accounts.  And that relates to gas and storage available for sale.


Can you tell me whether all the gas in storage except for the cushion gas is all the gas in storage, apart from cushion gas, in account 152?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The only gas in storage that's recorded in account 152 is the gas purchased by Union Gas for resale to its gas sales customers.  So gas owned by others and the base pressure gas that's in our storage reservoirs are not in account 152.


MR. RYDER:  And when Union performs a load-balancing function for contract customers, does that gas come from, the gas use for that purpose, come from account 152?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That gas has been separately identified as load-balancing gas, and is held constant, so it's not recorded in account 152 as sort of gas available for resale, no.


MR. RYDER:  And so the gas held separately for load-balancing, that's also in storage?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It is in storage, but it is not available for sale.


MR. RYDER:  (microphone not activated) May I just have a minute?


And the level of cushion gas for the past number of years is shown in a response filed in this case, but it's -- originated as Exhibit J18.28 in RP-2003-0063.  Do you have a copy of that?  I can provide you with a copy if you haven't got one.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Ryder, are you able to tell us which -- was that included in the piece that was filed recently called "supplementary evidence", or was that included in -- 


MR. RYDER:  No, it was filed in the original.


MR. PENNY:  In the original?  All right.  Thank you.  If parties can make that differentiation as a threshold question, that would be useful.


MR. RYDER:  It's Exhibit B3, tab 1, Schedule 1.  At least, that's the reference.


MR. PENNY:  You'll have to explain more how we find it, because I don't see that in my material.


MR. RYDER:  Well, why don't I give you a copy of it, and then it may be familiar to you when I have done that?


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, Mr. Ryder, I think this was in answer to an interrogatory J18.28, which I think was filed in the 2004 rate case.


MR. RYDER:  Yes.  Well, maybe it hasn't entered this case yet.


MR. PENNY:  So I don't think it's in the brief of material that's been filed in this case.


MR. MILLAR:  If that's the case, should we provide this with an exhibit number, assuming there are going to be questions on it?  Is there any objection to that, Mr. Penny?


MR. PENNY:  No.  I mean, I think -- no.  The answer to your question is, no, there is no objection to it.  I would just say that if this is not previously in the record, then the witnesses are seeing this, if not probably for the first time, but certainly for the first time in quite a while, so they may want some time to reflect on it.  But we'll see where it goes.


MR. MILLAR:  With that in mind, we will give it an exhibit number.  KT for Technical Conference, KT1.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1:  ANSWER TO AN INTERROGATORY FILED IN THE 2004 RATE CASE, RP-2003-0063, AS EXHIBIT J18.28

MR. MILLAR:  And, sorry, Mr. Ryder, Mr. Penny, could you please just once again clearly identify what this exhibit is for the record?


MR. PENNY:  Well, it appears to us, subject -- and I guess we can take it -- this description, unless I advise you otherwise, it appears to us to be an answer to an interrogatory filed in the 2004 rate case, which is RP-2003-0063, as Exhibit J18.28.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MR. RYDER:  Now, you see it shows the volume of cushion gas in rate base between 1998 and 2004.  Panel?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  And can you tell me whether, during the course of any particular winter, does the level remain fixed or does it go up and down, below the level that's in rate base?

MR. POREDOS:  Mr. Ryder, the cushion gas would remain the same going through the winter.  It would be put in place and stays there.


MR. RYDER:  All right.  And so does it ever happen that inventory needs impinge on cushion gas, or the reverse?


MR. POREDOS:  Impinge?  Could you explain what you mean by that?  Sorry.


MR. RYDER:  Well, that inventory needs become so great that inventory requirements make you dip into the level of cushion gas –-

MR. POREDOS:  Union Gas –-

MR. RYDER:  -- for a period of time.


MR. POREDOS:  Union Gas plans on the winter demands based on normal weather.  Should the -- there be incremental, an incremental burn or incremental demand during the winter above that, Union would go out and buy spot gas during the winter to supplement it.


MR. RYDER:  So there's no impinging on -- the level of cushion gas remains constant?  There's no impinging on it?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  And can you provide an update to the year 2007 for the volume of cushion gas in rate base?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes.  In the year 2007, the cushion gas is 1,512 10(6)M³.  I believe the number that you've put forward here that shows 2004 is prior to the 2004 cushion gas sale.


MR. RYDER:  Do you have the number for 2005, then?  Or can you provide that?


MR. POREDOS:  We'll update -- undertake to update this schedule, because I don't have that specific number with me.


MR. RYDER:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Just so we’re –- just so we're clear, Mr. Ryder, you would like to have the -- to extend the column to 2005/2006.


MR. RYDER:  And 2007.


MR. PENNY:  But you were just given 2007.


MR. RYDER:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  But you would like us to do 2005 and 2006 as well?


MR. RYDER:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be Undertaking JT1.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1:  TO provide an update to the schedule to the year 2005, 2006 for the volume of cushion gas in rate base


MR. RYDER:  Now, in the Natural Gas Forum report of March 2005, at page 46 the report speaks of recent increases of 21 Bcf of storage, with more coming.  And that was 2005.  Can you tell us if any of that -- any of those recent increases referred to in the report were attributable to Union?


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, Mr. Ryder, do you -- I think, to put it in context, can you give us a reference or do you have the NGF decision with you?  I’d like to -- I think it's fair to the witnesses to know where that shows up in the report and to see it in context.  It's a lengthy report that makes many observations.


MR. RYDER:  All right.  Why don't I -– I’ll ask you -- I'll get around it by asking this:  Since 2004, have you added to your storage capacity apart from sales of cushion gas?


MR. POREDOS:  No, we have not.


MR. RYDER:  And that's to the present time, Mr. Poredos?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RYDER:  I'm done.  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Gentlemen and panel, I just have a couple of questions -- I'm Jim Gruenbauer with the City of Kitchener -- that may relate to the supplemental evidence that was just filed.


QUESTIONS BY MR. GRUENBAUER:


MR. GRUENBAUER:  If you can turn up pages 5 and 6 of that supplementary evidence.  I’ve just got a couple of questions there.  And also on the attachment number 1 to Exhibit 29, J29.34, that's included in the supplementary evidence.  It's the answer to an interrogatory from VECC.


MR. PENNY:  That's the simulated withdrawal schedule?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes that's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  So that's what I'll be spending a little bit of time on.  And I suspect most of my questions will be for you, Mr. Poredos.


On attachment 1, the simulated withdrawal schedule, is this based on normal weather?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, this would be a withdrawal schedule based on normal weather.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  And if I understand the response at the Part B of that exhibit, it speaks to the –- the computer simulation and it reflects Union's current storage operation, including the cushion reductions from 2001 to 2004.  So this would be a simulation or a picture after taking the cushion gas sales into account and then running them through your model.  Have I got that right?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  And if I can just ask you to turn up your response to the question 7 that you ask at page 5 of the supplementary evidence.  And this is the question:  Are there any additional costs associated with the incremental storage capacity based on the experience to date?


And then in your response, it notes, in the second sentence:

~"Cycling this storage, filling and emptying the space, generates a cost for compressor fuel of $0.5 million.”


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I guess my question is:  How was that 0.5 million dollars determined?  How did you come up with that number?


MR. POREDOS:  We reviewed the compressor fuel, existing compressor fuel model and, in fact, removed the cushion gas and assumed that it was sold, and then reran it to include the activity that would be created by the incremental cushion gas, which is reflected in the diagram, or the graph we just looked at.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  I just want to make sure I understand.  Did you get to that 0.5 million as the difference between two models?


MR. POREDOS:  Between two analyses of what compressor fuel would look like.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  So a sort of before-and-after picture where you run all the costs with the cushion gas in, and another one with the cushion gas out, and the half a million comes from the difference between the two models.    
MR. POREDOS:  That’s correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  As opposed to getting to it directly.


MR. POREDOS:  Directly in what fashion?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  In some fashion from the 1.6 pJs and some assumptions about fuel ratios, injections, withdrawals.


MR. POREDOS:  We would have looked at the average fuel ratio on an overall basis; that's what I'm talking about.  In terms of the fuel ratio at Dawn, we would look at it to see what the fuel ratio might be, and we would add that additional activity on.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I understood, but now I'm a bit confused.  Would it be fair to say that what you just described to me is sort of a standard -- you applied a standard cost of compressor fuel injections and withdrawals with working space?


MR. POREDOS:  Sorry, based on the incremental activity, that would come from the incremental space that was solved.  Correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Providing a schedule that would show some details to that 0.5 million dollars, would that be a problem for you to provide?  Just some support for that 0.5 million dollars?


MR. POREDOS:  We could take a look at that.  I'm not sure exactly what we -- when we did this originally, whether I've got those notes, but we can take a look at it.


MR. PENNY:  Perhaps we can say on that that we'll undertake to see whether we can do that, and if we can, we'll provide what we can.  If we can't, we'll let you know that that level of detail is no longer available to us.


MR. MILLAR:  Then I'll just get that a best-efforts Undertaking No. as JT2.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT2:  TO Provide a schedule that would show some details to that $0.5 million difference between the cushion-gas-in model and the cushion-gas-out model.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  And just to be clear, what I'm trying to find out here is, is that cost determined in some standard fashion or is it, in fact, a marginal cost that is calculated as the difference between two scenarios; I would suggest is the proper way of looking at it.  Does that clear it up?


MR. PENNY:  Well, I thought you had an answer to that question.  That question, I thought the answer was that it's the latter; that they run the model assuming that the cushion gas is still in storage and we therefore don't have that activity associated with the incremental storage.  And then we ran the model, assuming that we did have the incremental storage capacity resulting from the cushion gas sale.  And the number you're talking about was the difference between those two things on the cushion gas -- or, sorry, on the compressor fuel issue.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Well, if I could just see some details on that, that would be helpful.


MR. PENNY:  Well, and that's what we'll look and see if we've got any of that, if we still have any of that detail available to us.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.


And it feeds into the next question and answer, question 8:  Have there been any adverse operational or cost consequences to customers as a result of the 2004 cushion gas sale?  And the answer is, there have been no adverse operational or cost consequences resulting from the sale of cushion gas.


And the question I'd like to ask is:  What if, if there were cost consequences that weren't captured by the modelling that you did, Mr. Poredos, if such an impact -- and it could be plus or minus -- if it did exist, where would it show up?  Would it show up in a compressor fuel variance account?


MR. POREDOS:  The one thing we should remember here, that it is -- we're selling that space, and there will be additional activity on that space, and the customer who uses that space or creates that additional activity will pay for that fuel.


Now, if there was, beyond the rate case of 2007, any fuel that was greater than that, then Union would be at risk on that number.  The fuel ratios are in the -- are our standard rate, and they're paid for by the customer as they utilize on the basis of activity.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  So -- and that's what I'm trying to get a sense of, is, if there was a cost, where would it show up, and who would it be attributed to?  And I think what you just said is, this would likely form part of a true-up that happens with compressor fuel, with the customers that are using the space already.  Or Union would bear it?  It's not something that would be visited on ratepayers at large?


MR. BAKER:  There is no true-up mechanism.  It would be borne by Union, to the extent that there was a variance relative to what was in rates.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  So it just drops to the bottom line.


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  And there is no -- Ms. Elliott, there is no way that this would show up anywhere, to your knowledge, in any of the deferral accounts as some kind of residual variance that's unexplained by other volume and price changes?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  This would not go through a deferral account.  It would be charged direct to compressor fuel expense.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  I think those are my questions.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Gruenbauer.


MR. DeROSE:  I think, if it's fine, I'll go next.


QUESTIONS BY MR. DeROSE:


MR. DeROSE:  Panel, my name is Vince DeRose.  I think I've met most of you.  I am counsel for IGUA.


I just want to follow up on two points that arise out of Mr. Ryder's exchange with you.  The first has to do with the discussion on load-balancing gas.  And you indicated that load-balancing gas is not recorded in account 152.


What account is load-balancing gas recorded in?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Because load-balancing gas isn't classified as gas available for sale, it's not in 152. 


It's also not classified as cushion gas.  It is, on our financial statements, classified as a non-current asset, and that would be recorded against account 179, other deferred charges.


The uniform system of accounts doesn't actually have an account that this fits into.  So we've put it into account 179. 


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And am I right that at certain points in the year or in certain years you may sell that load-balancing gas?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No, that gas is not sold.  It's used to balance direct purchase customers.  So it's physically in inventory when we come into the winter, and it's used to balance the difference between their supply and their demand through the winter period.  And then they return it to us through the summer period.  So it's used to balance direct purchase, but it is not sold.


MR. DeROSE:  And so you have never sold any of the load-balancing gas?  It always -- it's maintained at the same balance?


MS. ELLIOTT:  We've had occasion, I think twice, to sell that gas as a bundled T-service customer moves from bundled T, where this customer is using the balancing gas, to an unbundled service.  I believe we've had a couple of large industrials who have taken their portion of the balancing gas to move to an unbundled T-service.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when those transactions have happened, how have you dealt with -- I'm assuming that there would be a difference in the value in the gas when it was injected, versus the value of the gas when it was withdrawn?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No, that gas was sold to those customers at its book value.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the other issue arises out of Undertaking JT1.  This was Mr. Ryder's request that you update the schedule from 2004 through to 2007.


And am I -- I would expect that in 2004 you had the sale so the volumes will go down, but the volume, once it's adjusted in 2005, that should remain static for 2005, 2006, and 2007, the cushion gas volumes, correct?


MR. POREDOS:  I believe that is the case, that it has stayed static, but we'll update the numbers just to make sure.


MR. DeROSE:  If it has not remained static, would you -- I guess I'm adding to supplement the undertaking -- provide an explanation as to why it hasn't?  I would expect -- you've sold some cushion gas.  I expect it to go down.   But if it either goes up or goes down without a sale of cushion gas, I would like an explanation of that.


MR. POREDOS:  Yeah.  That's fine.


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Millar, I don't know whether you want that as a --


MR. PENNY:  We can just add that to the prior undertaking.


MR. DeROSE:  If everyone's fine with that.  It's --


MR. PENNY:  I'm certainly fine with that.


MR. DeROSE:  It's a contingency that --


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, panel, I have a question about the $13,493,000, which is the pre-tax gain that is at issue in this case.


When you calculated the capital gain, I was not able to find anything in the evidence that set out what you used as the original purchase price, whether it was based on a first in-first out, or whether it was on some sort of an average of the cost of cushion gas injected over the years.


Do you have any information on that?


MR. PENNY:  Mr. DeRose, we're just looking through, because I do have a recollection that there is some evidence about that.  We're just trying to put our finger on it.


MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps, Mr. Penny -- I can see all the Members over there are flipping through the pages.  If this is something better dealt with by an undertaking, I'm fine with that.


What I would like is to -- how the original purchase price was calculated, so was -- I would assume it's either first in-first out, or some sort of average.

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is actually a journal entry.  The approximate cost is about $700,000.


MR. DEROSE:  Yeah.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I can't lay my hands on the journal entry, but it's the original purchase price of that -- oh, sorry.  It's Exhibit B4.7 that was filed in the original EB-2005-2011.  But the cost of the cushion was $664,000.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.


MS. ELLIOTT:  And that is the original purchase price of the gas that was in those individual reservoirs.  So each reservoir has a level of cushion gas, and it's costed at its original purchase price and tracked by reservoir.


So it's an average cost for the individual reservoirs.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And does each reservoir require its own specific level of cushion gas, I assume?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, it does.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And over the years, were there carrying costs for that cushion gas in that particular reservoir or reservoirs?


MS. ELLIOTT:  When you refer to "carrying costs," there would be the cost of interest and return and taxes on that investment, yes.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And I take it that would have been have been taken into consideration in normal -- when you were calculating the capital gain?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  The capital gain is the difference, would be the difference between the proceeds on the sale and the original cost.


MR. BAKER:  Once the cushion gas is sold, that amount that was referred to comes out of rate base, and going forward, there's no longer any return or taxes calculated on that amount for setting rates?


MR. DEROSE:  And in terms of the 700,000, which was the original cost of the injection to that reservoir, were these reservoirs -- were the injections -- was this a one-time injection at the beginning of the life of this reservoir, or would these have been injections over time?


MR. POREDOS:  When those pools are developed, the original capital costs of the pool to actually set it up for operation would include that cushion gas as the original capital.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.


MR. BAKER:  To clarify, that's typically original gas that's in place.  So it's not normally new gas that's injected.  The reservoir would have initially produced gas, it goes down to a certain level, and when the reservoir is then converted or developed into storage, part of the capital cost to develop is to purchase the original gas in place.


MR. DEROSE:  Right.  Okay.  And so there wouldn't have been -- and these are my words -- a top-up at some point over time?


MR. BAKER:  No specific injection for the purpose of injecting base pressure gas into a reservoir.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, you've said that -- you've just indicated that –- that a portion of it was the original gas and a portion would have been purchased -- injected at the time that the reservoir was developed.


Am I right that that gas over the years is commingled with the gas in inventory?


MR. POREDOS:  When you withdraw the gas from a pool, you go down to a certain pressure.  And when you reinject, it's not like a -- what can I say?  An empty bottle, let's say, with nothing in it where you would have perfect mixing, total commingling of gas.  There's a boundary layer that you go down to.  And once you reinject, it would not commingle with that gas.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  So, for instance, the gas which you sold as part of this cushion gas transaction, was that the original gas that was injected when it was -- when the reservoir was first developed?


MR. POREDOS:  In theory it would be.


MR. DEROSE:  Now, you say "in theory."


MR. POREDOS:  We don't paint the molecules.  I can't tell you exactly –-

MR. DEROSE:  Right.

MR. POREDOS:  -- that there wasn't a boundary layer where there was some mixing, where they -- the two gases touch each other.  But, in fact, the gas in cushion is held at the same value throughout the years.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  On to another topic.  If I can just confirm that this -- the sale of the cushion gas, was it made in accordance with any order of the Board?  And, if so, what order of the Board?


MR. PENNY:  Let me just say to that that I'm happy to have the -- since we're all here, I'm prepared to have the witness answer that question, but we take -- just so there is no uncertainty about this, we take the view that this issue about whether that was raised by IGUA in some prior arguments, about whether this gas was commodity and so on is -- has been decided by the Board and that that argument is now not on the table and has been foreclosed by both the prior Board decisions on this issue.

In other words, the Board has clearly said in its –- in its more recent decision that the basis of its jurisdiction is to fix just and reasonable rates.  The Board accepted, in fact, the proposition that it had no authority to grant prior approval of this sale.  So it's our position that that issue has now been dealt with and is foreclosed.


But as I said, on a without-prejudice to that position -- we're all here.  I’m prepared to let the witness answer.


MR. DEROSE:  That’s fine.  I think that will be a point of argument –

MR. PENNY:  I'm just alerting you to the fact that we'll take the position that the evidence elicited by this question is not relevant to the hearing.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  That's fine.  If I can just ... was -- well, you heard my question.


MR. BAKER:  We did not seek any approval or order around the sale of the cushion gas.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And was the sale made in accordance, in your view, with any Board tariffs or rate schedules?


MR. BAKER:  Our position is that what we did on the sale of the cushion gas was we sold a capital asset.  Therefore, it was not a sale of commodity; it was a sale of an asset, and therefore did not fall under a tariff.


MR. DEROSE:  Thank you.


Panel, in your view, does gas commodity ever lose its usefulness in the provision of utility services?

MR. PENNY:  That -- I take the same position on that question.


MR. DEROSE:  That's fine.


MR. BAKER:  And our position, again, in our view, there is a difference when you refer to “gas commodity”.  Gas that's there for cushion gas, that's part of the development of the pool as a capital asset, and when it's no longer required -- in this case, when we sold the cushion -- again, we view that as the sale of an asset, not a sale of gas commodity.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  But my question is just:  Gas commodity, do you view gas commodity -- whether we call cushion gas “gas commodity” or not, I think, is a point of argument, likely between Mr. Penny and myself.


I take it you would agree that gas commodity does not lose its usefulness in the provision of utility services?


MR. PENNY:  Well, I think in addition to my theoretical position on what's open, I mean, frankly, I think the question is argumentative.  I think the answer to that is that if gas is properly accounted for as “cushion gas”, then that -- or, sorry, as “commodity”, then that's what it is, and it is used for the provision of service.

If gas is not classified as “commodity” but is something else, then our position is that it's not.  And in this case, the cushion gas ceased to be necessary for the provision of utility services, and therefore it was sold


MR. BAKER:  I would just add to that that in the case where we sold cushion gas, it is very much different than a normal sale of an asset, like land, if I can use that as an example; because as a result of the sale of the cushion gas, what we do is create an additional 3.7 petajoules of additional storage that we are able to sell and offer into the marketplace, and pre the Board's NGEIR storage forbearance decision, the majority of that has gone back to ratepayers.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, since you've mentioned NGEIR, would you be able to -- I'll jump ahead a little bit.


At -- I don't think you need to turn up your evidence, but at page 4 of your supplemental evidence you set out the benefits.  I guess it's page 4 and page 5.  This is the benefits of 7.2 million, a large portion of which arises out of what you've just described, in terms of the transactional services and the percentage of the sharing that has, since 2004, been shared with ratepayers.


How does the NGEIR decision change those benefits on a going-forward basis?  Will ratepayers continue to see those benefits that you've described?


MR. PENNY:  Just so we're clear, Mr. DeRose, you're asking on a prospective basis.


MR. DeROSE:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  So in other words, not how it impacts the amounts that are already recorded in this evidence, but, say, in other years?


MR. DeROSE:  Yes, I don't know how the NGEIR decision could affect the 2005 or 2006 benefits that have already been shared, Mr. Penny, but -- I'm interested in the prospective.


MR. PENNY:  All right.  But are you then -- is -- I guess that's why I'm asking for clarification.  Are you asking about 2007 benefits?


MR. DeROSE:  Well, 2007 or 2008.


The evidence is there that these benefits have -- and the way I read it is, it is left that these benefits will continue to accrue in some form or fashion.


Do you believe the NGEIR decision will affect that?


MR. BAKER:  In part.  And I say that because, going forward post the NGEIR decision, there is still and will remain an amount of short-term transactional storage revenue that will remain embedded in rates, and that customers will receive the value from, on a go-forward basis.


MR. DeROSE:  And that that amount is only up to a certain volume; is that correct?


MR. BAKER:  It is up to a certain dollar amount, and there will still be a deferral account.  The sharing percentages have changed as a result of the NGEIR decision, but there will still be a subdivision of that short-term transactional storage revenue.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Panel, do you agree that the Board has historically had a policy with respect to gas costs, that the benefits and burdens associated with gas costs will flow through to the ratepayers and keep the shareholder whole from gas costs?


MR. BAKER:  For gas available for resale to customers, correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Are you aware of any sale of gas other than the cushion gas sale made by Union that was not either -- the benefits or the burden either flowed through to the ratepayers or were shared with the ratepayers?


MR. BAKER:  From my recollection, anyway, there was an instance where we were disallowed recovery of a certain portion of gas costs.  I can't recall offhand what the docket number or the year that was.  It was probably in the late 1990s.


MR. DeROSE:  And, sorry, disallowed?  Do you have any recollection of why it was disallowed, or the context around that?


MR. BAKER:  There was many, many arguments and reasons and discussions around it.  I'm not sure I could articulate just one.


MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps by way of undertaking, if you can just identify what case that was in and what transaction, if you are able to?


MR. MILLAR:  That's undertaking JT3.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3:  TO IDENTIFY THE CASE IN WHICH CERTAIN GAS COSTS WERE DISALLOWED 

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, J...?


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.


Mr. DeRose, would you please just restate the undertaking, so it's clear for the record?


MR. DeROSE:  To identify the case referred to by the panel where certain gas costs were disallowed by the Board.


And if it assists the panel, Mr. Gruenbauer is whispering in my ear.  He seems to know it off the top of his head.  Perhaps he can put it on the record and, if that's the case that you are referring to, can save you some time.


MR. BAKER:  I'm sure it is.


MR. PENNY:  What's your recollection, Mr. Gruenbauer?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Well, conditioned on, I'm north of 50 now, so my memory isn't quite as sharp as it used to be.  I think it was 486-03 or -04.  It was the mid-nineties, 1996.  This was the case of Mr. Fantuz's famous sausage.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, I'll leave that.  I don't want to get into Mr. Fantuz's famous sausage.  But if that's the case, if you can confirm it, and we will look it up ourselves.  Thank you.


MR. BAKER:  Again, I would just clarify that I think what you're referring to, in terms of the regulation of gas costs, relates to working gas or gas available for sale, which we view as very much different, in contrast to what we are dealing with here, in terms of the sale of cushion gas as an asset.


MR. DeROSE:  And to be clear, my question is about on any sale of gas, period.  So whether it's gas in inventory, whether it is load-balancing gas, whether it's cushion gas, if there are any situations that you are aware of where ratepayers didn't either share the burden or the benefit, or fully, I guess, enjoy or not enjoy the benefit or burden, depending on the cost of gas.  So it's any sale of gas.


Panel, can you just confirm that the transactional sharing regime in 2004 was a 75/25 split, 75 to ratepayers and 25 to the shareholder?


MR. POREDOS:  In 2004, any amounts above that that was based -- or embedded in rates, in terms of the forecast amount, would have been shared 75/25 in 2004.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so if the 13-and-a-half-million which is at issue here had been a transactional service transaction, or a TS transaction, and was above what was embedded, it would have been a 75/25 split?


MR. POREDOS:  Any transaction that was completed -- that went through the deferral account would have been shared 75/25.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. BAKER:  But there's no -- just to clarify, there's no basis to record any kind of a transaction on the sale of cushion gas or an asset through the existing S&T transactional deferral accounts.


MR. DeROSE:  And why do you say that?


MR. BAKER:  It's just under the definition that just does not capture that.  S&T transactional accounts are related to the sale of storage assets or transmission capacity, not on the sale of commodity or the sale of an asset; in this case cushion gas.


MR. DeROSE:  Those are all my questions.  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.


MR. MILLAR:  Who would like to go next?


MS. GIRVAN:  I'll go.


QUESTIONS BY MS. GIRVAN:

MS. GIRVAN:  I just have a couple of very brief questions.  Julie Girvan, Consumers' Council of Canada.


Just back to what you said, Mr. Baker.  I'd just like to better understand why your position is that the sale of cushion gas is different from something like the sale of land.


MR. BAKER:  My comment was really based on the fact that in the sale of a land you have a capital asset, a non-depreciable capital asset, and if it were to be sold, it's gone.  There's nothing there that remains after that sale.


In the case of cushion gas, my comment was it's very much different, because after the sale of a non-depreciable capital asset like cushion gas, what we're left with is the creation of additional storage capacity, which has then been sold as storage into the marketplace and captured, either in our forecast of storage in 

urgent transmission/transactional amounts that are incorporated into base rates or reflected in deferral accounts, to the extent that we are in an activity over that threshold amount.


MS. GIRVAN:  So is it strictly because you’re saying there's a benefit accruing from the sale or is it because of this --


MR. BAKER:  It's just different because it creates -- it effectively creates an asset that has enduring value as a result of that sale, whereas a typical asset sale is, you have an asset, you sell it, and it's gone.  There’s typically nothing left or remaining in those cases.  The situation of cushion gas is just very different in that respect.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


In the documents, the number that I have seen as the pre-tax gain is 12.829 million.  Is that correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And can you just help me understand how that's been recorded, how and sort of where it's been recorded from an accounting perspective?


MS. ELLIOTT:  If you look at, in the original evidence filed, the Interrogatory Exhibit B4.7, it actually lays out the transaction, and you can see the various components.  The proceeds were recorded -- the 13,493,000 was recorded as "other income", against which the original cost was charged.  So the gain is -- was recorded in "other income" for the year

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that amount isn't on the books today at all?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, it was an income transaction in 2004.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MS. ELLIOTT:  It was recorded in “income” in that year.  So, no, it's not on the books today. 


MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my –- oh, sorry, I have one more question.  Sorry.

At the end of the day, if the Board decides that the proceeds from the sale should go to customers - let's just say hypothetically a hundred percent to ratepayers - from an allocation perspective, how would the company propose to allocate those amounts?


MR. PENNY:  I think in order to answer that we'd need to know on what basis the Board made the decision that you're hypothesizing.  So unless – unless we talked about a bunch of hypothetical scenarios, I'm not sure that we'd be able to answer that question.


MS. GIRVAN:  But from a cost allocation perspective?


MS. ELLIOTT:  There is an interrogatory response, Exhibit B4.11, which assumes that the base pressure gas would be -- it really shows the allocation of the original base pressure gas.  So if it –- if it's allocated in that fashion, that's how the proceeds would be distributed.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I'll have a look at that, and then I might have a follow-up, but thanks very much.  Those are my questions.


MR. PENNY:  Thanks, Ms. Girvan.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. DeVellis or Mr. Wightman?


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Either way.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I just have a couple questions.


QUESTIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, panel.  John DeVellis, School Energy Coalition.

Getting back to Exhibit B4.7 in your -- which you were just looking at with Ms. Girvan.  There's a note there that says:  "To record section 85 rollover of asset to affiliates."


So am I right that Union Gas didn’t actually pay any capital gains tax on the sale; it was a rollover?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now -- I'm changing topics now.  There were two transactions of cushion gas; correct?  One in 2001/2002 for 2.1 petajoules, and a further sale of 1.6 petajoules in 2004?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And in your original evidence at Exhibit 8, tab 2, page 34, you say that there is an additional 2.7 petajoules of surplus cushion gas.


MR. POREDOS:  Yeah.  That was based on the original calculation that we -- that there was about, I believe it was, 6.4 pJs of cushion gas that was available.  So the difference between what has been sold and what we believe was available would be the 2.7.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And does that 2.7 petajoules remain in rate base?

MR. POREDOS:  Sorry?


MR. DeVELLIS:  That 2.7 petajoules, that hasn't been sold?


MR. PENNY:  I'm asking for a clarification of which question it is.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I’m sorry, I did change the question.  First of all, has that 2.7 petajoules been sold?


MR. POREDOS:  No, it has not. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And so does it remain in rate base, then?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, it does.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But you view it to be surplus.


MR. POREDOS:  Union takes the position that it could be surplus.  But as we had put into evidence, being a prudent operator, we believe that we need to have some operation between those zones to confirm that that gas can be removed.  So until we actually operate in the cushion gas zones that we've already sold, we will continue to keep that 2.7 in rate base.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, with respect to the sale of 1.6 petajoules in May -- the sale was in May 2004?  I'm getting that from --


MR. BAKER:  That's correct. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- Exhibit B6.10, the original evidence.


And if you turn to B6.10 D, you say:

"Union considered selling additional cushion gas 
in early spring 2004 with the transaction taking 
place on May 28, 2004."


So was that the first time that you considered selling it, in spring of 2004?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  You hadn't made any determination before that that the gas was -- cushion gas was surplus and available for sale?


MR. BAKER:  We knew that we had -- we knew that we had, based on the prior sales, that it was -- it was potentially available for sale, but that was the first time that we had contemplated selling it in that year.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  All right.  And did you have any studies or was there anything that precipitated your making that decision in May '04?  Any further studies or anything of that nature?


MR. BAKER:  No.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  What led you to decide in May of 2004 that you were now able to sell the cushion gas?


MR. POREDOS:  Union Gas had made the original analysis that, through normal operations and experience with those pools, that we could actually reduce the cushion gas, the full amount of the 56.4.


So as we operated the original 2.1 pJs that was sold, there were no adverse effects on those because we had actually gone down to that level within cushion, so it gave us the confidence that we can go to that next step and take a look at that next layer, which was about 1.6 pJs.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And I guess my question is:  When did you make that decision?  When did you make the decision that your experience with the original sale in 2001, there was no adverse consequences, and therefore you could sell the additional 1.6 pJs?


MR. POREDOS:  The experience was gained, actually, in the winter of 2002/2003, which was a cold winter, in which we actually went down into the first layer of cushion.  So at that point in time, we looked at the operations and concluded that we could go to the next layer.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So you had all the information you needed in, say, early 2003.  There was no additional information that came to light during the rest of that year, up to May 2004?


MR. POREDOS:  No.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And if you could turn to Exhibit 9.18 from your original evidence.  That was an interrogatory from VECC.  And what you say there is that you didn't include the forecast of the sale of the surplus cushion gas in your S&T forecast for 2004 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1.  In other words, the additional storage created from the sale wasn't included in your forecast for 2004.


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  And if --


MR. BAKER:  I would just add, however, that there was the S&T deferral accounts that we'd been speaking about previously, and those deferral accounts would act to capture that value.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  For the incremental storage, you mean?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Right.  But I had thought that the way that the sharing mechanism worked was, there is a certain forecast level which is credited to ratepayers, and anything above that was captured in the deferral account and was shared 75/25 between ratepayers and the company.


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So if the --


MR. BAKER:  I think there's a little bit of a difference there.  I believe that the base forecast amount, there is a sharing of that as well.  It's on a 90/10 basis, in favour of ratepayers on the forecast amount.  And then to the extent that we exceed that threshold amount that's included in rates, then it goes into the deferral account and is shared 75/25.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Did that change?  Because I thought that the most recent sharing method... 

[Witness panel confers]


Sorry.  Now, if that 1.6 petajoules had been included in the forecast for 2004, how would it have affected the forecast amount?


MR. POREDOS:  I'm sorry, are you asking how would the value of selling that storage space as a peak storage -- short-term peak storage service, how that would be affected?


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  If you had taken the additional storage created from the sale of 1.6 petajoules of cushion gas into account in formulating your forecast, how would it have affected the forecast?


MR. POREDOS:  Had we had that space available, we would have forecast the value, as we do with the other space, and included it in the forecast.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Are you able to -- well, I don't know if you could tell me today, but perhaps by way of an undertaking, are you able to give me a dollar amount of the value of that additional storage, if you had included it in your forecast?


MR. BAKER:  It's really -- there's a bunch of hypotheticals in the question, because it really anticipates that we would have contemplated or had already sold the cushion gas, and then been put in the position to say, had we had it, what would we have projected or forecast the value at.  And --


Mr. DeVELLIS:  That's my question.


MR. BAKER:  -- I'm not sure there's a lot of value to doing that.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Well, no, I understand you may not agree with the premise of the question, but --


MR. BAKER:  We didn't have the storage available to sell.  Therefore, I'm not sure how we ever could have projected the value.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Well, I guess that's where we disagree.  That's why I'm saying you may not agree with the premise of my question, but I'm asking just for a mathematical calculation of what the forecast would have been if you had included it in your forecast.


MR. BAKER:  On a best-efforts, we can go back and look at how we had forecast in 2004, and what that may have looked like in that situation.


Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  It's Undertaking JT4.

UNDERTAKING NO.JT4:  TO PROFICE THE DOLLAR VALUE OF ADDITIONAL STORAGE IN FORECAST, IF INCLUDED, AND WHICH POOLS CUSHION GAS CAME FROM 

Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


QUESTIONS BY MR. WIGHTMAN:

MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman, for VECC.


I just have four questions left.  I would just like to maybe nail something down about the physics about gas moving from one place to another.


Is it true that if you have a high-pressure in one area and a low-pressure in the other area and you connect them, the gas will move from high-pressure to low-pressure?  It won't move the other way, will it?


MR. POREDOS:  Gas normally will go from high-pressure to low-pressure up until the point in time that it equalizes pressure at both ends.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  So when there's no pressure difference, it will stop -- not flow.  But as long as there is, there will --


MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  And can we say that, other things equal, the greater the pressure differential between two points, the faster the gas flow? Other things equal.


MR. POREDOS:  Well, it will be a -- it will be a curve, obviously.  The velocity of the gas or the speed of the gas will be higher when the pressure is higher at one point and lower at the other point.  And as those two equalize, it will actually get to a point where there's no flow or no velocity.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  But if you start with two different pools or containers with gas in them, the larger the pressure differential, the faster the flow will be until it's equalized.  Is that not true?


MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That was question 1.


Now, VECC had asked you, I think it was Interrogatory B9.15, Part E, about how Union monitored the storage pools to ensure there's no fluid encroachment.  So that's B9.15E, and that was March 3, 2005, answered.  


Do you have that?  And your answer was:

"During storage withdrawals, water contents for each storage pool is monitored regularly at dawn as part of normal annual operational practices."


Now, you continued doing that?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  And, now, this might be the same question, but it might not be.  Would you also be able to tell if your dehydration costs went up because you had less cushion gas?  I understand one of the possible side effects of using less cushion gas is that extra dehydration might be necessary.


MR. POREDOS:  Well, extra cushion gas -- removing the cushion gas will not drive a dehydration-plant increase in capital or a greater capacity requirement.  During March 1st, our pools still have quite a bit of gas in them.  So you are not into the cushion zone.  So from that standpoint, the activity on the system is what drives the capital or the costs on a peak day, which is March 1st.


On March the 31st, the activity out of storage is quite low, in fact, in percentage, compared to the amount of gas coming above ground, and the amount of gas I'm trying to pull out of the storage.


And at that point in time, the capacity of the "dehyd" plant, I've got excess capacity, so it would have no impact on that.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  No capital impact and no operational or variable costs?


MR. POREDOS:  Well, if there is any variable costs, they're so small they'd be negligible.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Now, I think this might be for Ms. Elliott.  I think you stated earlier that when you take the cushion gas out, there's cushion gas for each pool, and that it would be the average cost for that pool, and that that's how you determined the cost.  Am I correct with that, my understanding of that?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Each pool has a level of cushion gas, and it's on the books at its original cost.  And as each pool has been affected by withdrawing, it's come out at its original cost of -- the average cost of the pool.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  For the pool.


Now, I may have missed this, and I was looking at two different interrogatory responses.  One was B9.15.  And that was Part A, which was current cushion pressures for pools.  And also B2.8, page 2 of 2, which is also your cushion pressure reduction calculations.


And I guess my question is this:  Do we know which pools the cushion gas was sold out of?  Because they were talking about, how did you calculate the cost for the gain for tax purposes and for financial reporting purposes.


Do we know from which pools that cushion gas came, pool or pools?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, we did actually specify the pools and how much came out of each pool.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Oh, okay.  Okay.  The reason I'm asking is because B2.8 talks about proposed cushion reduction calculations.


MR. POREDOS:  B2.8 includes the full analysis that was done on the total 6.4 pJs --


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.


MR. POREDOS:  -- of gas.  And the specific pools that it came out of --


MR. WIGHTMAN:  I may have missed it.


MR. POREDOS:  Yes.  I thought that there was an interrogatory that actually laid that out.  I just don't have my finger on it. 


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Well, maybe --


MR. POREDOS:  We can provide that information.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes, maybe as part of your showing how it was calculated, that would be fine.


MR. POREDOS:  I'll either find that interrogatory or give you a summary of what --


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes, that only came up in my mind today, so I didn't have a chance to go back through them.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you like an undertaking for that, Mr. Wightman?


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Well, you can have an extra undertaking, or they can, as part of the -- I think there was an earlier undertaking with respect to how you did the calculation of the cost of the cushion gas?  Mr. DeRose, I think, asked for it.


MR. PENNY:  Let's just give it a number.  It will be simpler.


MR. MILLAR:  We'll call it JT5.  And just to make sure the record's clear, could you repeat what you're looking for, Mr. Wightman?

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Could you identify which storage pool or pools that the cushion gas -- that the sale which we're discussing today came from and sort of tie that to the calculation of the cost of it.


MR. PENNY:  So that's the -- just so we're clear, the 2004 cushion gas sale.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Exactly.  Yes.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. Jt5:  TO Identify which storage pool or pools the 2004 cushion gas sale came from and tie to the cost calculation 


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, we'll do that.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  All right.  My last question, panel, is:  I understand that inert gases such as nitrogen can be used for cushion purposes, and there's even talk about 

carbon, or maybe carbon dioxide, I don't know which.  Has Union investigated replacing any of the natural gas it uses for cushion gas by some other inert gas, such as nitrogen; and, if so, where are you in those kind of considerations?


MR. POREDOS:  I have not personally been involved in any of those discussions.  I don't know that we have anything ongoing that would review that.  We're certainly aware of those issues, but we haven't really done any analysis or reviews of it with Union.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Can I then pose just a crazy hypothetical to you?  Suppose you did identify that, “Oh, we could use nitrogen,” and then you said, “Hey, we can get rid of virtually all our cushion gas and sell it as a gain.”  Would that be -- or carbon.  Would it be your view that any credits for carbon sequestration that you got, plus any capital gains, would go to the shareholder?  And this is very hypothetical.  And if you say you haven't thought about it, that's okay.


MR. BAKER:  I'd say we leave it that we have not thought about it.  Going to that extreme or doing something else in terms of the operation or storage pool would -- is not something that we've done, in contemplation.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  That's good enough.  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  Anyone else aside from me?


Questions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Good morning, panel.  Some of my questions have been asked, so I apologize if I'm skipping around a little bit.  I don't have a lot, in any event.

I think you've already stated this, but maybe I'll just -– I’ll ask it again.  Can you please tell me if the disposal of cushion gas that you've sold has impacted the integrity or safety of the storage system in any way?


MR. POREDOS:  No, it has not.


MR. MILLAR:  And how have you determined this?


MR. POREDOS:  We would review on an annual basis as a normal course of business all of our storage operations.  And by removing that cushion gas, no service has been impaired; there has been no impact on services or costs to any degree, so --


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Have you done any specific engineering studies or anything like that to assist with this analysis?


MR. POREDOS:  We reviewed the cushion gas that was withdrawn from that space and how it's reacted, but not a major engineering analysis.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


In your opinion, or the opinion of people in your company, will there be any need to inject additional cushion gas into your existing wells to replace the gas that was sold?


The question is:  As far as you're aware -- are you aware of -- do you think you'll have to replace any of the cushion gas that you've sold?


MR. POREDOS:  No, we don't believe that we're going to have to replace any of it.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  This is just a follow-up on a question, I think, from Mr. DeRose.  I think I heard one of the witnesses say that different levels of cushion gas are required for different wells; is that correct?


MR. POREDOS:  We have 20 pools, and they all have different characteristics.  What we have to remember here --  these are not man-made.  They don't conform to engineering specifications.  And a lot of this, you depend on technical analysis; your engineering, such as seismic analysis, analysis of the geology of those pools, and how those pools have reacted in history, how they've reacted to withdrawals, to injections.  And each pool requires a certain amount of cushion, and it could be different in each pool.  But very similar pools in our 20 react very similarly, and that's how Union made the decision that we could reduce the pressure on most of them down to a 300-pound level.


MR. MILLAR:  So was an individual analysis done for each pool?


MR. POREDOS:  We would look at the individual pools, and I don't think that there was a major engineering consulting or anything like that done; it was based on our knowledge, our experience over 50 years, of operating those pools and how they reacted.


MR. MILLAR:  And just so I'm clear, if I heard you correctly, you've set a new lower threshold for the amount of cushion gas, and it's the same threshold for all of your pools?  Is that correct?


MR. POREDOS:  Not all of the pools.  There are certain pools -- peaking pools, for example, will inherently be operated at a higher level, because they are peaking pools.  You need to get the gas in and out.  Only certain pools have those characteristics that would allow you to do that.  So there’s about three pools, I believe, that we have that would be peaking pools.  There's probably four other pools that, based on the geology, based on the internals of those pools, we don't believe that we can reduce the pressure on those.  Today.  Now, in the future, with technology and so forth, we may.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  So the cushion gas that was sold did not come from all of the pools; it was just some of the pools.


MR. POREDOS:  No, it came from specific pools.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you. 


When you made the original determination -- you've been speaking about this with a number of people.  But when you made the original determination that you had more cushion gas than was necessary, I heard you speak of -- I guess the information you used to make that calculation was institutional knowledge and experience with the pools.  Did you conduct any additional studies or have outside people look at this, or was it all done internally?


MR. POREDOS:  It was all done internally, from our experience.  We look at those pools every year, every week, as to how they are operating to make sure that those pools are operating in a way we believe they should.  So it's an ongoing review of those pools and how they operate.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And just to be clear, I'm not necessarily saying you should have; I'm just asking if you did.


MR. POREDOS:  Okay, sure.


MR. MILLAR:  And the answer to that is “no”?


MR. POREDOS:  Yeah, we -– we did not.


MR. BAKER:  I would add to that that is one of the reasons why we were looking at the cushion gas dispositions in stages, so that we would reduce it in a pool, make sure we had some operating experience going down to that level to make sure it was performing, and that there were no issues before we would entertain any other sales of cushion, as well.  So it was a proactive way to do that so that we didn't have any issues operationally.


MR. MILLAR:  Did you have to hire any additional staff or incur additional O&M expenses to do this calculation, or would this have been within the envelope of your ordinary spending?


MR. POREDOS:  It is within the ordinary spending, the O&M that we have people there every day that operate those pools.


MR. MILLAR:  Just a clarification question on a similar point.  I can't recall if it was Mr. DeRose or Mr. DeVellis, but in response to one of their questions, one of the witnesses indicated that you had sold what I think somebody called the first layer of cushion gas.  Do you recall that?


MR. POREDOS:  Sorry, it was probably my answer.  What the first layer, or first stage, as I call it, would be the 2001/2002 sale.  And then we actually operated down in that level the year after.  The second stage, or second sale, would be the 2004 sale.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you're referring to two stages, not two different types of cushion gas or anything like that.


MR. POREDOS:  Absolutely not.  It’s just two different sales at two different points in time.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  If I could ask you to turn to your supplemental evidence, page 4.  Near the top of the page, the second sentence, it says:

~"Based on historical storage development costs, incremental capital of approximately 8 to 10 million dollars per billion cubic feet would have been required to generate the equivalent incremental storage space and resulting revenues.  The incremental capital cost would have been included in future rate base."


Is it true that Union doesn't actually require any additional storage for in-franchise customers?  Is that correct?


MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.  In fact, in the 2007 rate case or the NGEIR decision, the Board actually allocated 100 pJs to in-franchise, which is going to last for a long time, so there's no incremental requirement for in-franchise.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So any incremental storage development, that wouldn't go into rate base, would it, if you were to develop your storage now?


MR. POREDOS:  Any incremental would likely be development for ex-franchise competitive market storage, which would be allocated to the ex-franchise markets.


MR. MILLAR:  And that wouldn't go into rate base.


MR. BAKER:  Based on the Board's NGEIR decision, that's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. BAKER:  Any future development of storage would be developed outside of rates.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  


I just have a couple of questions regarding the regulatory treatment of -- for sales of non-depreciable assets.  And I wanted to get your view on how those compare with sales of depreciable assets.  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1
So I'll ask these questions, and to the best of your ability, I'd like you to have a shot at answering them.  I know they're not really questions related to your -- necessarily to the supplemental evidence, but I'd just like to get the benefit of your views on this, to the best of your ability.


Can I ask how the company books losses or gains from sales of depreciable assets, versus how they book losses or gains from non-depreciable assets?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The accounting for dispositions of assets, we follow the uniform system of accounts.  So that when you're talking about the sale of an asset, the original cost of that asset will be credited to plant and debited to accumulated depreciation.  And the proceeds from that sale would be -- and I'll get my debits and credits mixed up -- but the proceeds would be credited to accumulated depreciation.  


So what ends up happening is the difference between the original cost and the proceeds is in accumulated depreciation.  And also in that account is the depreciation that has accumulated over the years as that asset has depreciated.


So what the result is, the so-called gain or loss, is really a difference between actual depreciation and the proceeds from the sale.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  You're speaking a little bit over my head.  And it's not your fault, it's my fault.  So I'm going to try and dumb down the question a little bit, and hopefully you can help me.


Where you sell a depreciable asset for, let's say, for example, greater than its book value -- say it's a vehicle.  Its book value is $100,000, and you sell it for $120,000.  What happens to the $20,000 difference?  Is that a benefit to the shareholder?  Does it somehow get back to the ratepayer?  Or what is the accounting treatment of that, for regulatory purposes?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The difficulty I have with your question is, the actual calculation of book value means that you have to make a set of assumptions as to how depreciated that asset is.  And because the depreciation is a pool of assets, and every five years it's changed, you have to kind of break that calculation down.  So how much depreciation is on any individual asset is not a precise calculation.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.


MS. ELLIOTT:  But as the asset is depreciated, that expense is recorded and accumulated against the original cost.  When the asset is sold, basically, the original cost gets recorded against the accumulated depreciation.


So the effect is that if it was a gain or a loss on the sale, it just affects the accumulated depreciation.  In the next depreciation study, new depreciation rates would be set to take that into account. 


So the end result is there's nothing on the income statement that's going to the company or its shareholders.  And it affects future depreciation rates, which ultimately would affect future rates under a cost-of-service rebasing.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I won't pretend to entirely understand that, but my friend Mr. Viraney is satisfied by that.  So thank you for that response.


To the extent that you can answer this question, have there been any instances where Union has recorded a loss with respect to a sale of a non-depreciable asset, to your knowledge?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, a sale of a non-depreciable asset?


MR. MILLAR:  Non-depreciable asset.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And how has that been treated, for regulatory purposes?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Actually, if you look at Exhibit 8.1 in the original evidence, that was a listing of all gains and losses since the year 2000.  And so there are a number of situations where there are losses recorded, as well as gains, when we dispose of land.  And those are all charged to income in the year that transaction occurred.  So they will affect the company's earnings for the year.


MR. MILLAR:  So that the company bore the loss from those?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And none of that was attributed to -- or the ratepayers were not on the hook for any of that?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Not for the sale of non-depreciable assets, no.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.


And unless there's anything else, Mr. Penny -- do you have anything to add?


MR. PENNY:  No.  I have nothing at all.


MR. RYDER:  I take it the undertakings will be furnished when they're prepared?  We won't be kept waiting for the last one to be prepared before they are delivered?  We're just worried that --


MR. PENNY:  Well, I mean, all I'll say is we'll answer them as quickly as we reasonably can.


MR. RYDER:  And send them out when they're ready?


MR. PENNY:  We'll endeavour to do our best, Mr. Ryder.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  With that, I think that concludes today's Technical Conference.  Thank you, all.  And I guess we'll see you whenever the next date is.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 10:58 a.m.
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